
 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK   SENIOR HEALTH INSURANCE COMPANY OF PENNSYLVANIA,                                      Plaintiff,                                                  v.                             BEECHWOOD RE LTD., B ASSET MANAGER, L.P., BEECHWOOD BERMUDA INTERNATIONAL, LTD., BEECHWOOD RE INVESTMENTS, LLC a/k/a BEECHWOOD RE INVESTORS, LLC, ILLUMIN CAPITAL MANAGEMENT, LP, MOSHE M. FEUER a/k/a MARK FEUER, SCOTT A. TAYLOR, DAVID I. LEVY, DHRUV NARAIN, and JOHN DOES 1-10,                                      Defendants.     Case No.: 1:18-cv-06658-JSR  DEFENDANT DAVID I. LEVY’S ANSWER TO THE COMPLAINT  Defendant David I. Levy by his attorneys, Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati, Professional Corporation, hereby answers the Complaint and Demand for Trial by Jury of Plaintiff Senior Health Insurance Company of Pennsylvania, dated July 24, 2018 (the “Complaint”), as follows.  In providing this Answer, Mr. Levy does not intend to, and does not, waive any privileges in this or any other proceeding, including but not limited to the privilege against self-incrimination guaranteed to him by the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy reserves the right to assert any such applicable privileges in this or any other proceeding.  Mr. Levy further reserves the right to amend this pleading at a future date. Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 1 of 56



2  NATURE OF THE ACTION 1. Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution with respect to the allegations contained in paragraph 1 of the Complaint. 2. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 2 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 2 of the Complaint. 3. Mr. Levy admits he is a defendant in United States v. Nordlicht, et al., 1:16-cr-00640-BMC (E.D.N.Y.), which is scheduled for trial on January 7, 2019.  To the extent not specifically admitted, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution with respect to the allegations contained in paragraph 3 of the Complaint. 4. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 4 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 4 of the Complaint. 5. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 5 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 2 of 56



3 information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 5 of the Complaint. 6. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 6 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 6 of the Complaint. 7. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 7 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 7 of the Complaint. 8.  Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution with respect to the allegations contained in paragraph 8 of the Complaint. 9. Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution with respect to the allegations contained in paragraph 9 of the Complaint. 10. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 10 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 10 of the Complaint. Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 3 of 56



4 11. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 11 of the Complaint. 12. Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution with respect to the allegations contained in paragraph 12 of the Complaint. 13. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 13 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 13 of the Complaint. 14. Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution with respect to the allegations contained in paragraph 14 of the Complaint. 15. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 15 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 15 of the Complaint. 16. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 16 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 16 of the Complaint. Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 4 of 56



5 17. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 17 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 17 of the Complaint. 18. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 18 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 18 of the Complaint. 19. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 19 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 19 of the Complaint. 20. Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution with respect to the allegations contained in paragraph 20 of the Complaint. 21. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 21 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 21 of the Complaint. Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 5 of 56



6 22. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 22 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 22 of the Complaint. 23. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 23 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 23 of the Complaint. 24. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 24 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 24 of the Complaint. PARTIES 25. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 25 of the Complaint.   26. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 26 of the Complaint. 27. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 27 of the Complaint. Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 6 of 56



7 28. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 28 of the Complaint. 29. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 29 of the Complaint. 30. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 30 of the Complaint. 31. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 31 of the Complaint. 32. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 32 of the Complaint. 33. Mr. Levy admits the allegations contained in paragraph 33 of the Complaint. 34. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 34 of the Complaint. 35. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 35 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 35 of the Complaint. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 36. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 36 of the Complaint state legal conclusions, no response is required.  To the extent a response is required, Mr. Levy Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 7 of 56



8 lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 36 of the Complaint. 37. Paragraph 37 of the Complaint states a legal conclusion to which no response is required. 38. Paragraph 38 of the Complaint states a legal conclusion to which no response is required. 39. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 39 of the Complaint state legal conclusions, no response is required.  To the extent a response is required, Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 39 of the Complaint. FACTUAL BACKGROUND A. SHIP 40. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 40 of the Complaint. 41. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 41 of the Complaint. 42. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 42 of the Complaint. 43. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 43 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 43 of the Complaint. Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 8 of 56



9 44. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 44 of the Complaint. 45. Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution with respect to the allegations contained in paragraph 45 of the Complaint. 46. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 46 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 46 of the Complaint. B. Beechwood and Platinum Partners 47. Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution with respect to the allegations contained in paragraph 47 of the Complaint. 48. Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution with respect to the allegations contained in paragraph 48 of the Complaint. 49. Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution with respect to the allegations contained in paragraph 49 of the Complaint. 50. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 50 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 9 of 56



10 information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 50 of the Complaint. 51. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 51 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 51 of the Complaint. 52. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 52 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 52 of the Complaint. 53. Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution with respect to the allegations contained in paragraph 53 of the Complaint. 54. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 54 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 54 of the Complaint. 55. Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution with respect to the allegations contained in paragraph 55 of the Complaint. Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 10 of 56



11 56. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 56 of the Complaint. C. Defendants’ Misrepresentations to Induce SHIP to Enter Into the IMAs 57. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 57 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 57 of the Complaint. 58.  To the extent the allegations in paragraph 58 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 58 of the Complaint. 59. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 59 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 59 of the Complaint. 60. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 60 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 60 of the Complaint. Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 11 of 56



12 61. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 61 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 61 of the Complaint. 62. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 62 of the Complaint. 63. Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution with respect to the allegations contained in paragraph 63 of the Complaint. 64. Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution with respect to the allegations contained in paragraph 64 of the Complaint. 65. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 65 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 65 of the Complaint. 66. Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution with respect to the allegations contained in paragraph 66 of the Complaint. 67. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 67 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 12 of 56



13 Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 67 of the Complaint. 68. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 68 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 68 of the Complaint. 69. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 69 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 69 of the Complaint. 70. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 70 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 70 of the Complaint. 71. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 71 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 71 of the Complaint. Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 13 of 56



14 72. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 72 of the Complaint state legal conclusions, no response is required.  To the extent a response is required and the allegations in paragraph 72 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 72 of the Complaint. 73. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 73 of the Complaint state legal conclusions, no response is required.  To the extent a response is required and the allegations in paragraph 73 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 73 of the Complaint. 74. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 74 of the Complaint state legal conclusions, no response is required.  To the extent a response is required and the allegations in paragraph 74 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 74 of the Complaint. 75. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 75 of the Complaint state legal conclusions, no response is required.  To the extent a response is required and the allegations in paragraph 75 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 14 of 56



15 Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 75 of the Complaint. 76. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 76 of the Complaint state legal conclusions, no response is required.  To the extent a response is required and the allegations in paragraph 76 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 76 of the Complaint. 77. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 77 of the Complaint state legal conclusions, no response is required.  To the extent a response is required and the allegations in paragraph 77 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 77 of the Complaint. 78. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 78 of the Complaint state legal conclusions, no response is required.  To the extent a response is required and the allegations in paragraph 78 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 78 of the Complaint. 79. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 79 of the Complaint state legal conclusions, no response is required.  To the extent a response is required and the allegations in paragraph 79 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 15 of 56



16 right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 79 of the Complaint. 80. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 80 of the Complaint state legal conclusions, no response is required.  To the extent a response is required and the allegations in paragraph 80 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 80 of the Complaint. E. The Investment Management Agreements 81. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 81 of the Complaint state legal conclusions, no response is required.  To the extent a response is required and the allegations in paragraph 81 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 81 of the Complaint. i. The BBIL IMA 82. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 82 of the Complaint. 83. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 83 of the Complaint. 84. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 84 of the Complaint. Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 16 of 56



17 85. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 85 of the Complaint. 86. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 86 of the Complaint. 87. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 87 of the Complaint. 88. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 88 of the Complaint. 89. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 89 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 89 of the Complaint. 90. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 90 of the Complaint. 91. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 91 of the Complaint. 92. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 92 of the Complaint. 93. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 93 of the Complaint. 94. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 94 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 17 of 56



18 Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 94 of the Complaint. 95. Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution with respect to the allegations contained in paragraph 95 of the Complaint. 96. Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution with respect to the allegations contained in paragraph 96 of the Complaint. 97. Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution with respect to the allegations contained in paragraph 97 of the Complaint. ii. The Beechwood Re IMA 98. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 98 of the Complaint. 99. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 99 of the Complaint. 100. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 100 of the Complaint. 101. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 101 of the Complaint. 102. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 102 of the Complaint. Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 18 of 56



19 103. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 103 of the Complaint. 104. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 104 of the Complaint. 105. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 105 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 105 of the Complaint. 106. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 106 of the Complaint. 107. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 107 of the Complaint. 108. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 108 of the Complaint. 109. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 109 of the Complaint. 110. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 110 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 110 of the Complaint. Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 19 of 56



20 111. Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution with respect to the allegations contained in paragraph 111 of the Complaint. 112. Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution with respect to the allegations contained in paragraph 112 of the Complaint. 113. Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution with respect to the allegations contained in paragraph 113 of the Complaint. iii. The BAM IMA and Side Letter 114. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 114 of the Complaint. 115. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 115 of the Complaint. 116. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 116 of the Complaint. 117. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 117 of the Complaint. 118. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 118 of the Complaint. 119. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 119 of the Complaint. Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 20 of 56



21 120. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 120 of the Complaint. 121. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 121 of the Complaint. 122. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 122 of the Complaint. 123. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 123 of the Complaint. 124. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 124 of the Complaint. 125. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 125 of the Complaint. 126. Mr. Levy  lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 126 of the Complaint. 127. Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution with respect to the allegations contained in paragraph 127 of the Complaint. 128. Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution with respect to the allegations contained in paragraph 128 of the Complaint. F. Beechwood’s Failed and Fraudulent Performance 129. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 129 of the Complaint state legal conclusions, no response is required.  To the extent a response is required and the Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 21 of 56



22 allegations in paragraph 129 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 129 of the Complaint. 130. Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution with respect to the allegations contained in paragraph 130 of the Complaint. 131. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 131 of the Complaint state legal conclusions, no response is required.  To the extent a response is required and the allegations in paragraph 131 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 131 of the Complaint. 132. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 132 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 132 of the Complaint. 133. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 133 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 133 of the Complaint. Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 22 of 56



23 134. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 134 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 134 of the Complaint. 135. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 135 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 135 of the Complaint. 136. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 136 of the Complaint. 137. Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution with respect to the allegations contained in paragraph 137 of the Complaint. 138. Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution with respect to the allegations contained in paragraph 138 of the Complaint. 139. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 139 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 139 of the Complaint. Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 23 of 56



24 i. Montsant Partners LLC 140. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 140 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 140 of the Complaint. 141. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 141 of the Complaint. 142. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 142 of the Complaint. 143. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 143 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 143 of the Complaint. 144. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 144 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 144 of the Complaint. 145. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 145 of the Complaint state legal conclusions, no response is required.  To the extent a response is required and the allegations in paragraph 145 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 24 of 56



25 right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution. ii. PEDEVCO Corp. 146. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 146 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 146 of the Complaint. 147. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 147 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 147 of the Complaint. 148. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 148 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 148 of the Complaint. 149. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 149 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 149 of the Complaint. Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 25 of 56



26 150. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 150 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 150 of the Complaint. 151. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 151 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 151 of the Complaint. 152. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 152 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 152 of the Complaint. 153. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 153 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 153 of the Complaint. 154. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 154 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 26 of 56



27 information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 154 of the Complaint. 155. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 155 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 155 of the Complaint. 156. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 156 of the Complaint state legal conclusions, no response is required.  To the extent a response is required and the allegations in paragraph 156 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution. iii. BRILLC-BBIL Note 157. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 157 of the Complaint. 158. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 158 of the Complaint. 159. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 159 of the Complaint. 160. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 160 of the Complaint. 161. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 161 of the Complaint. Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 27 of 56



28 162. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 162 of the Complaint state legal conclusions, no response is required.  To the extent a response is required and the allegations in paragraph 162 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 162 of the Complaint. 163. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 163 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 163 of the Complaint. 164. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 164 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 164 of the Complaint. 165. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 165 of the Complaint state legal conclusions, no response is required.  To the extent a response is required and the allegations in paragraph 165 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.   Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 28 of 56



29 iv. Agera Energy 166. Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution with respect to the allegations contained in paragraph 166 of the Complaint. 167. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 167 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 167 of the Complaint. 168. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 168 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 168 of the Complaint. 169. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 169 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 169 of the Complaint. 170. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 170 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 29 of 56



30 information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 170 of the Complaint. 171. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 171 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 171 of the Complaint. 172. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 172 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 172 of the Complaint. 173. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 173 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 173 of the Complaint. 174. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 174 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 174 of the Complaint. Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 30 of 56



31 175. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 175 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 175 of the Complaint. 176. Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution with respect to the allegations contained in paragraph 176 of the Complaint. 177. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 177 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 177 of the Complaint. 178. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 178 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 178 of the Complaint. 179. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 179 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 179 of the Complaint. Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 31 of 56



32 180. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 180 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 180 of the Complaint. 181. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 181 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 181 of the Complaint. 182. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 182 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 182 of the Complaint. 183. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 183 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 183 of the Complaint. a. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 183(a) of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 32 of 56



33 Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 183(a) of the Complaint. b. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 183(b) of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 183(b) of the Complaint. c. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 183(c) of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 183(c) of the Complaint. d. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 183(d) of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 183(d) of the Complaint. e. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 183(e) of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 33 of 56



34 incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 183(e) of the Complaint. f. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 183(f) of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 183(f) of the Complaint. g. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 183(g) of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 183(g) of the Complaint. 184. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 184 of the Complaint. 185. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 185 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 185 of the Complaint. Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 34 of 56



35 186. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 186 of the Complaint. 187. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 187 of the Complaint. 188. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 188 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 188 of the Complaint. 189. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 189 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 189 of the Complaint. 190. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 190 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 190 of the Complaint. 191. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 191 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 35 of 56



36 information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 191 of the Complaint. 192. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 192 of the Complaint. 193. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 193 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 193 of the Complaint. 194. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 194 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 194 of the Complaint. 195. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 195 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 195 of the Complaint. 196. Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution with respect to the allegations contained in paragraph 196 of the Complaint.  Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 36 of 56



37 G. Revelation of Beechwood’s Misconduct 197. Mr. Levy admits an article was published in the Wall Street Journal on July 25, 2016 relating to Platinum Partners.  To the extent not specifically admitted, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution with respect to the allegations contained in paragraph 197 of the Complaint. 198. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 198 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 198 of the Complaint. 199. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 199 of the Complaint state legal conclusions, no response is required.  To the extent a response is required and the allegations in paragraph 199 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 199 of the Complaint. 200. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 200 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 200 of the Complaint. Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 37 of 56



38 201. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 201 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 201 of the Complaint. 202. Mr. Levy lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 202 of the Complaint. 203. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 203 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Mr. Levy otherwise lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in paragraph 203 of the Complaint. E. The RICO Enterprises 204. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 204 of the Complaint state legal conclusions, no response is required.  To the extent a response is required and the allegations in paragraph 204 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution. 205. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 205 of the Complaint state legal conclusions, no response is required.  To the extent a response is required and the allegations in paragraph 205 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution. Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 38 of 56



39 206. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 206 of the Complaint state legal conclusions, no response is required.  To the extent a response is required and the allegations in paragraph 206 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution. 207. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 207 of the Complaint state legal conclusions, no response is required.  To the extent a response is required and the allegations in paragraph 207 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution. 208. Mr. Levy admits that on May 25, 2018, a Department of Justice press release announced that Murray Huberfeld had pled guilty to charges of conspiracy to commit wire fraud.  To the extent not specifically admitted, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution with respect to the allegations contained in paragraph 208 of the Complaint. 209. To the extent the allegations in paragraph 209 of the Complaint state legal conclusions, no response is required.  To the extent a response is required and the allegations in paragraph 209 of the Complaint relate to Mr. Levy, Mr. Levy invokes his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.    Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 39 of 56



40 COUNT ONE  Breach of Contract (Against BBIL)  210. This count is not asserted against Mr. Levy, and no response is required.  To the extent a response is required, Mr. Levy repeats and incorporates his responses to paragraphs 1 through 209 as though fully set forth herein. 211. This count is not asserted against Mr. Levy, and no response is required.  Paragraph 211 of the Complaint also states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   212. This count is not asserted against Mr. Levy, and no response is required.  Paragraph 212 of the Complaint also states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   213. This count is not asserted against Mr. Levy, and no response is required.  Paragraph 213 of the Complaint also states legal conclusions to which no response is required.  214. This count is not asserted against Mr. Levy, and no response is required.  Paragraph 214 of the Complaint also states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   215. This count is not asserted against Mr. Levy, and no response is required.  Paragraph 215 of the Complaint also states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   216. This count is not asserted against Mr. Levy, and no response is required. Paragraph 216 of the Complaint also states legal conclusions to which no response is required.  Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 40 of 56



41 217. This count is not asserted against Mr. Levy, and no response is required. Paragraph 217 of the Complaint also states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   218. This count is not asserted against Mr. Levy, and no response is required.  Paragraph 218 of the Complaint also states legal conclusions to which no response is required.  219. This count is not asserted against Mr. Levy, and no response is required.  Paragraph 219 of the Complaint also states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   220. This count is not asserted against Mr. Levy, and no response is required.  Paragraph 220 of the Complaint also states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   221. This count is not asserted against Mr. Levy, and no response is required.  Paragraph 221 of the Complaint also states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   COUNT TWO Breach of Contract (Against Beechwood Re) 222. This count is not asserted against Mr. Levy, and no response is required.  To the extent a response is required, Mr. Levy repeats and incorporates his responses to paragraphs 1 through 221 as though fully set forth herein. 223. This count is not asserted against Mr. Levy, and no response is required.  Paragraph 223 of the Complaint also states legal conclusions to which no response is required.     Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 41 of 56



42 224. This count is not asserted against Mr. Levy, and no response is required.  Paragraph 224 of the Complaint also states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   225.   This count is not asserted against Mr. Levy, and no response is required.  Paragraph 225 of the Complaint also states legal conclusions to which no response is required. 226. This count is not asserted against Mr. Levy, and no response is required.  Paragraph 226 of the Complaint also states legal conclusions to which no response is required.     227. This count is not asserted against Mr. Levy, and no response is required.  Paragraph 227 of the Complaint also states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   228. This count is not asserted against Mr. Levy, and no response is required. Paragraph 228 of the Complaint also states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   229. This count is not asserted against Mr. Levy, and no response is required. Paragraph 229 of the Complaint also states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   230. This count is not asserted against Mr. Levy, and no response is required.  Paragraph 230 of the Complaint also states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 42 of 56



43 231. This count is not asserted against Mr. Levy, and no response is required.  Paragraph 231 of the Complaint also states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   232. This count is not asserted against Mr. Levy, and no response is required.  Paragraph 232 of the Complaint also states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   233. This count is not asserted against Mr. Levy, and no response is required.  Paragraph 233 of the Complaint also states legal conclusions to which no response is required. COUNT THREE Breach of Contract (Against BAM and BRILLC) 234. This count is not asserted against Mr. Levy, and no response is required.  To the extent a response is required, Mr. Levy repeats and incorporates his responses to paragraphs 1 through 233 as though fully set forth herein. 235. This count is not asserted against Mr. Levy, and no response is required.  Paragraph 235 of the Complaint also states legal conclusions to which no response is required.     236. This count is not asserted against Mr. Levy, and no response is required.  Paragraph 236 of the Complaint also states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   237.   This count is not asserted against Mr. Levy, and no response is required.  Paragraph 237 of the Complaint also states legal conclusions to which no response is required. Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 43 of 56



44 238. This count is not asserted against Mr. Levy, and no response is required.  Paragraph 238 of the Complaint also states legal conclusions to which no response is required.     239. This count is not asserted against Mr. Levy, and no response is required.  Paragraph 239 of the Complaint also states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   240. This count is not asserted against Mr. Levy, and no response is required. Paragraph 240 of the Complaint also states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   241. This count is not asserted against Mr. Levy, and no response is required. Paragraph 241 of the Complaint also states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   242. This count is not asserted against Mr. Levy, and no response is required.  Paragraph 242 of the Complaint also states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   243. This count is not asserted against Mr. Levy, and no response is required.  Paragraph 243 of the Complaint also states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   244. This count is not asserted against Mr. Levy, and no response is required.  Paragraph 244 of the Complaint also states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 44 of 56



45 245. This count is not asserted against Mr. Levy, and no response is required.  Paragraph 245 of the Complaint also states legal conclusions to which no response is required. COUNT FOUR Breach of Fiduciary Duty (Against All Known Defendants) 246. In response to paragraph 246 of the Complaint, Mr. Levy repeats and incorporates his responses to paragraphs 1 through 245 as though fully set forth herein. 247. Paragraph 247 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required. 248. Paragraph 248 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   249. Paragraph 249 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   250. Paragraph 250 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   251. Paragraph 251 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   252. Paragraph 252 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required. 253. Paragraph 253 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required. 254. Paragraph 254 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required. Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 45 of 56



46 COUNT FIVE Fraud in the Inducement (Against All Known Defendants) 255. In response to paragraph 255 of the Complaint, Mr. Levy repeats and incorporates his responses to paragraphs 1 through 254 as though fully set forth herein. 256. Paragraph 256 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   257. Paragraph 257 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   258. Paragraph 258 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   259. Paragraph 259 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   260. Paragraph 260 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   261. Paragraph 261 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required. 262. Paragraph 262 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required. 263. Paragraph 263 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required.    Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 46 of 56



47 COUNT SIX Fraud (Against All Known Defendants) 264. In response to paragraph 264 of the Complaint, Mr. Levy repeats and incorporates his responses to paragraphs 1 through 263 as though fully set forth herein. 265. Paragraph 265 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   266. Paragraph 266 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   267. Paragraph 267 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   268. Paragraph 268 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   269. Paragraph 269 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   270. Paragraph 270 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required. 271. Paragraph 271 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 47 of 56



48 COUNT SEVEN Constructive Fraud (Against All Known Defendants) 272. In response to paragraph 272 of the Complaint, Mr. Levy repeats and incorporates his responses to paragraphs 1 through 271 as though fully set forth herein. 273. Paragraph 273 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   274. Paragraph 274 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   275. Paragraph 275 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   276. Paragraph 276 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   277. Paragraph 277 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required.     278. Paragraph 278 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required. 279. Paragraph 279 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required. 280. Paragraph 280 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required. 281. Paragraph 281 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required. Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 48 of 56



49 282. Paragraph 282 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required. COUNT EIGHT Violation of RICO – 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c) (Against All Known Defendants) 283. In response to paragraph 283 of the Complaint, Mr. Levy repeats and incorporates his responses to paragraphs 1 through 282 as though fully set forth herein. 284. Mr. Levy admits the allegations contained in paragraph 284 of the Complaint. 285. Paragraph 285 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   286. Paragraph 286 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   287. Paragraph 287 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   288. Paragraph 288 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   289. Paragraph 289 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required. a. Paragraph 289(a) of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   b. Paragraph 289(b) of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 49 of 56



50 c. Paragraph 289(c) of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   d. Paragraph 289(d) of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   e. Paragraph 289(e) of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   f. Paragraph 289(f) of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   290. Paragraph 290 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required. 291. Paragraph 291 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required. 292. Paragraph 292 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required. 293. Paragraph 293 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required. 294. Paragraph 294 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required. COUNT NINE Violation of RICO – 18 U.S.C. § 1962(a) (Against All Known Defendants) 295. In response to paragraph 295 of the Complaint, Mr. Levy repeats and incorporates his responses to paragraphs 1 through 294 as though fully set forth herein. Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 50 of 56



51 296. Mr. Levy admits the allegations contained in paragraph 296 of the Complaint. 297. Paragraph 297 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   298. Paragraph 298 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   299. Paragraph 299 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required. 300. Paragraph 300 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required. 301. Paragraph 301 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required. COUNT TEN Violation of RICO – 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d) (Against All Known Defendants) 302. In response to paragraph 302 of the Complaint, Mr. Levy repeats and incorporates his responses to paragraphs 1 through 301 as though fully set forth herein. 303. Mr. Levy admits the allegations contained in paragraph 303 of the Complaint. 304. Paragraph 304 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required. 305. Paragraph 305 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required. Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 51 of 56



52 306. Paragraph 306 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required. a. Paragraph 306(a) of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   b. Paragraph 306(b) of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   c. Paragraph 306(c) of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   d. Paragraph 306(d) of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   e. Paragraph 306(e) of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   f. Paragraph 306(f) of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   307. Paragraph 307 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required. 308. Paragraph 308 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required. 309. Paragraph 309 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 52 of 56



53 COUNT ELEVEN Civil Conspiracy (Against All Defendants, Including John Does 1-10) 310. In response to paragraph 310 of the Complaint, Mr. Levy repeats and incorporates his responses to paragraphs 1 through 309 as though fully set forth herein. 311. Paragraph 311 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required. 312. Paragraph 312 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required. 313. Paragraph 313 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required. 314. Paragraph 314 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required. 315. Paragraph 315 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required. 316. Paragraph 316 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required. 317. Paragraph 317 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 53 of 56



54 COUNT TWELVE In the Alternative, Gross Negligence (Against All Known Defendants) 318. In response to paragraph 318 of the Complaint, Mr. Levy repeats and incorporates his responses to paragraphs 1 through 317 as though fully set forth herein. 319. In response to paragraph 319 of the Complaint, Mr. Levy repeats and incorporates his responses to paragraphs 1 through 318 as though fully set forth herein. 320. Paragraph 320 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required. 321. Paragraph 321 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required. 322. Paragraph 322 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required. 323. Paragraph 323 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required. 324. Paragraph 324 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required. 325. Paragraph 325 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required. 326. Paragraph 326 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required.   Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 54 of 56



55 COUNT THIRTEEN In the Alternative, Unjust Enrichment (Against All Defendants, Including John Does 1-10) 327. In response to paragraph 327 of the Complaint, Mr. Levy repeats and incorporates his responses to paragraphs 1 through 326 as though fully set forth herein. 328. Paragraph 328 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required. 329. Paragraph 329 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required. 330. Paragraph 330 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required. 331. Paragraph 331 of the Complaint states legal conclusions to which no response is required. PRAYER FOR RELIEF The Plaintiff’s prayer for relief does not contain allegations that require a response from Mr. Levy.  However, to the extent a response is required, Mr. Levy denies that the relief sought is appropriate or available. DEFENSES  FIRST DEFENSE  The Complaint fails to state a claim upon which relief may be granted. SECOND DEFENSE   The claims alleged in the Complaint fail to plead fraud against Mr. Levy with the particularity required by the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 55 of 56



56 THIRD DEFENSE The Complaint fails to plead scienter with sufficient particularity. JURY DEMAND Mr. Levy demands a trial by jury on all claims as to which a jury trial may properly be had.  Dated:  September 24, 2018            Respectfully submitted,                WILSON SONSINI GOODRICH & ROSATI                Professional Corporation  s/ Michael S. Sommer Michael S. Sommer              Eli B. Richlin Katherine T. McCarthy  1301 Avenue of the Americas, 40th Floor New York, New York 10019 Telephone:  (212) 999-5800 Facsimile:  (212) 999-5899                                                                             msommer@wsgr.com erichlin@wsgr.com kmccarthy@wsgr.com       Counsel for Defendant David I. Levy  Case 1:18-cv-06658-JSR   Document 56   Filed 09/24/18   Page 56 of 56


